007 w/app

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
NO. 13 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA, ETC.,

Petitioner

v.

CASE NO. 78,768

WILLIE EDENFIELD, SR.,

Respondent

Fourth District Court of Appeal Case No. 90-0398

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, State of Florida

RICHESON & BROWN, P.A.
J. DAVID RICHESON, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 175657
JOSEPH J. MANCINI, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 384526
Post Office Box 4048
Fort Pierce, FL 34948
(407)465-5111
Attorneys for Petitioner

#

#### ISSUES ON APPEAL

Ι

FLORIDA'S WHISTLE-BLOWER'S ACT OF 1986 (\$ 112.3187, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989)) DOES NOT PROVIDE PROTECTION FOR **AN** EMPLOYEE, SUCH **AS** THE RESPONDENT, WHO HAS PARTICIPATED IN GOVERNMENTAL WRONG-DOING, TAKEN ACTIVE STEPS TO CONCEAL HIS PARTICIPATION AND DISCLOSED HIS PARTICIPATION ONLY WHEN CONFRONTED BY SOMEONE WHO WAS ALREADY AWARE OF THE INCIDENT

ΙI

THE COURT OF APPEAL OPINION UNDER REVIEW ARGUABLY IMPERMISSIBLY PRECLUDES A DEFENDANT FROM ASSERTING THE SPECIFIC DEFENSE, PROVIDED FOR IN THE ACT, THAT THE ADVERSE PERSONNEL ACTION WAS TAKEN FOR REASONS OTHER THAN "WHISTLE-BLOWING"

## **PREFACE**

The petitioner, Martin County, Florida, (Martin County) was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the Court of Appeal.

The respondent, Willie Edenfield, Sr., (Mr. Edenfield) was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in the Court of Appeal.

Reference to a document in the Record will be designated [R:] followed by a page (p.) paragraph (para.) and/or if appropriate a line (l.) designation.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Presented for this court's review is the Fourth

District Court of Appeal's July 31, 1991, decision. The

trial court had granted the petitioner, Martin County,

summary judgment in this matter. In its July 31 decision,

the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's decision. On

September 10, 1991, the Court of Appeal certified its

opinion as one that passes upon a question of great public importance.

The opinion under review discussed and construed, inter alia, certain provisions of § 112.3187, Florida Statutes (1989), the "Whistleblower's Act of 1986 (hereinafter "the Act"), and specifically held that the Act is applicable, without exception, to individuals who previously participated in governmental wrongdoing.

# A. <u>Trial Court Proceedings</u>

The underlying action was commenced on May 15, 1989, by Mr. Edenfield's filing of a one-count complaint alleging that his employer, Martin County, had taken adverse personnel action against him in violation of the Act when he was transferred to another job in another department at a lower rate of pay. (R: 3-41. Martin County subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment. [R: 8-13]. The motion was based solely on Mr. Edenfield's own deposition testimony and was in the nature of a statutory construction argument. (R: 8-13). The gist of the argument was that Mr. Edenfield could not seek the protection of the Act because he was a

"wrongdoer" himself who took active steps to conceal his involvement in the improper activities, who never reported or discussed his involvement for over four months, and finally only discussed the improper activites when he was questioned about it by a county official who already knew of the incident.

In brief, the facts cited in the motion for summary judgment were as follows and are found at pages 8-10 of the Record. [R: 8-10]. Mr. Edenfield, who at the time was the Assistant Road Superintendent for Martin County, used a Martin County truck to deliver sod to a private residence owned by Mr. Edenfield's supervisor. The sod that Mr. Edenfield delivered was billed to and paid for by Martin County. Mr. Edenfield ordered one of his subordinate employees to assist him in delivering the sod. Mr. Edenfield knew at the time he did it that his actions in this regard were wrong and contrary to Martin County's rules and regulations. Subsequent to his delivery of the sod, he took active steps to conceal his involvement in the matter. Mr. Edenfield first discussed his involvement in the incident with a Martin County official, Commissioner John Holt, some four months after the incident. This discussion took place during a telephone conversation initiated by the Commissioner, not Mr. Edenfield. Mr. Edenfield admitted his involvement in the incident to Commissioner Holt only after Mr. Holt first raised the matter with him. During this conversation, Mr. Edenfield implicated both himself and his

supervisor.

At the hearing on the motion, Mr. Edenfield's recently retained substitute counsel submitted affidavits in opposition to the motion and requested an extension of time to respond to the motion. [R: 82-83]. A dispute arose regarding whether or not any of the materials in opposition to the motion had been timely served and the court ordered the parties to submit memoranda of law regarding the requested extension of time. [R: 1481. Following receipt of the memoranda, the trial court issued an order denying the request for extension of time and granting Martin County summary judgment. [R: 229-2341. Mr. Edenfield then took an appeal of that order to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. [R: 2351.

# B. Appellate Proceedings

In its July 31, 1991 opinion, the Court of Appeals did not address the denial of Mr. Edenfield's motion for extension of time. See, Appendix A. The opinion did hold that the one affidavit which was timely served raised a factual dispute as to whether or not Mr. Edenfield suffered "adverse personnel action". The opinion focused primarily on the fact that Mr. Edenfield had disclosed information regarding his supervisor. In discussing the County's argument that Mr. Edenfield could not invoke the protection of the Act, the opinion merely notes that, in the court's view, the Act does not contain "...any exclusion for those 'in pari delicto'".

As noted above, the Court of Appeals subsequently certified its opinion as one which passed on a question of great public importance and pursuant to that certification Martin County filed with this honorable Court a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. By order dated October 17, 1991, this Court postponed a decision on jurisdiction and set forth a briefing schedule.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Т

FLORIDA'S WHISTLE-BLOWER'S ACT OF 1986 (§ 112.3187, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989)) DOES NOT PROVIDE PROTECTION FOR AN EMPLOYEE, SUCH AS THE RESPONDENT, WHO HAS PARTICIPATED IN GOVERNMENTAL WRONG-DOING, TAKEN ACTIVE STEPS TO CONCEAL HIS PARTICIPATION AND DISCLOSED HIS PARTICIPATION ONLY WHEN CONFRONTED BY SOMEONE WHO WAS ALREADY AWARE OF THE INCIDENT

The legislative history preceding the passage of the Act unequivocally shows that the Act was not intended to permit wrong-doers such as Mr. Edenfield, who have taken active steps to conceal their improper activities, to exculpate themselves from discipline by the simple expedient of "blowing the whistle" when they are finally confronted by someone with prior knowledge of the wrong-doing. To condone such a construction of the Act would be contrary not only to the legislative history but would be violative of fundamental principles of statutory construction.

II

THE COURT OF APPEAL OPINION UNDER REVIEW ARGUABLY IMPERMISSIBLY PRECLUDES A DEFENDANT FROM ASSERTING THE SPECIFIC DEFENSE, PROVIDED FOR IN THE ACT, THAT THE ADVERSE PERSONNEL ACTION WAS TAKEN FOR REASONS OTHER THAN "WHISTLE-BLOWING"

The Act specifically provides that "...it <u>shall</u> be a defense" (emphasis added) to an action under the Act that adverse personnel action was taken for reasons other than an employee's exercise of his protected rights. However, the Court of Appeal's cursory opinion does not address this issue at all and provides no guidance or analysis regarding the interplay of this statutory defense with the facts of

the case. Indeed, the opinion could be interpreted to read the defense completely out of the  $A\,c\,t$ .

#### **ARGUMENT**

FLORIDA'S WHISTLE-BLOWER'S ACT OF 1986 (§ 112.3187 FLORIDA STATUTES (1989)) DOES NOT PROVIDE PROTECTION FOR AN EMPLOYEE, SUCH AS THE RESPONDENT, WHO HAS PARTICIPATED IN GOVERNMENTAL WRONG-DOING, TAKEN ACTIVE STEPS TO CONCEAL HIS PARTICIPATION AND DISCLOSED HIS PARTICIPATION ONLY WHEN CONFRONTED BY SOMEONE WHO WAS ALREADY AWARE OF THE INCIDENT.

The petitioner respectfully submits that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's cursory treatment of the issue of the applicability of the Act to an individual such as the respondent who has engaged in an active campaign to conceal his misdeeds and then admits his involvement only after the misdeeds come to light, a matter of first impression in Florida, is in error. The court's opinion fails to address, and is contrary to, the legislative history of the Act. Further, the court's construction of the Act provides virtually absolute immunity to wrong-doers. An employee could engage in all manner of illegal activity, do his best to conceal the illegal activity and when the individual felt it was in his best interests to do so, he could "blow the whistle" and then arguably assert the appellate court's decision as an absolute defense to any proposed discipline.

The Act has been mentioned in 4 reported decisions (Ujcic V. City of Apopka, 581 So.2d 218 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1991); Bezersa V. City of Hialeah, 571 So.2d. 123 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); City of Miami V. Coll, 546 So.2d 695 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Dept. of Corrections V. Croce, 520 So.2d. 695 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).) but these cases contain no relevant analysis.

This is so because the appellate opinion tersely notes, without explanation, analysis or quidance, that the Act does not contain any exclusion for those "in pari delicto" but rather includes "...even those who previously participated in the wrongdoing". [Appendix A, p.1]. There may indeed be situations in which a participant in the wrong-doing can invoke the protections of the Act. However, Martin County respectfully submits that the facts of the instant case do not constitute such a situation. Further, the Court of Appeal's failure to provide any guidance whatsoever in these uncharted waters, despite Martin County's request in its Motion For Clarification to do so, leaves unresolved a key issue under the court's interpretation of the Act; namely when is a wrong-doer not entitled, if ever, to invoke the protection of the Act.

The following analysis of the legislative history of the Act, coupled with the undisputed facts testified to by the respondent in his deposition and well-established principles of statutory construction, shows that the Court of Appeal was in error and the decision should be reversed.

# A. Legislative History

In support of its motion for summary judgment, Martin County submitted the available record of legislative discussions and materials regarding the Act. The materials submitted included a legislative memorandum responding to various concerns which had been raised by the Attorney General's office regarding the proposed legislation [R: 421]

and the transcript of an October 5, 1985 meeting of the Florida House Committee on Government Operations (R: 44-73).

One concern specifically raised by the Attorney General was that,

The bill offers statutory immunity to wrongdoers who might otherwise be subject to prosecution. An employee engaged in fraud or malfeasance could "blow the whistle" himself when he felt the "cat was just about out [sic] the bag" and exculpate himself. [R: 421.

The response to the foregoing concern of the Attorney General was as follows,

Mr. Minick's suggestion that Whistlebower might unwittingly create a statutory immunity loophole for wrongdoers is of some concern. It is to be noted, however, that while one cannot be fired or disciplined for "blowing the whistle" one could be fired or disciplined for participation in an act warranting whistleblowing. [R: 43]. (Emphasis added).

Statements made at the October 5, 1985, meeting of the Florida House Committee on Government Operations are consistent with the foregoing. The Committee specifically noted that,

If there are other reasons to fire someone besides [sic] the person is whistle blowing, the whistle blowing wouldn't save him. [R: 58].

The Court of Appeal's holding that Mr. Edenfield is entitled to proceed under the Act is directly contrary to the foregoing unequivocal legislative intent and the opinion should therefore be reversed.

A brief review of the facts, as testified to by Mr. Edenfield himself, shows that his actions were even more

egregious than the factual setting anticipated in the legislative history materials and he was therefore not entitled to seek refuge in the Act.

At the time of the incident in question, Mr. Edenfield was the Assistant Road Superintendent for Martin County. 8, para. 1]. He used a Martin County truck to deliver [R: **sod** to a private residence owned by his supervisor. para. 1]. Mr. Edenfield ordered one of his subordinate employees to assist him in delivering the sod. [R: 9, para. The sod that he delivered was billed to and paid for by 9, para. 21. Mr. Edenfield admitted Martin County. [R: that he knew his actions in using a Martin County owned truck to deliver sod, which was paid for by Martin County, to a private residence was wrong. [R: 9, para. 41. delivering the sod, Mr. Edenfield returned to his office with the invoice for the sod "...\$0 nobody would know about it" except Mr. Edenfield, his supervisor and the secretary in the department. [R: 9, para. 53.

During the delivery of the sod, Mr. Edenfield damaged the tailgate of the Martin County truck he had used. He subsequently had the tailgate repaired by a Martin County department other than his own road department "...so nobody knew I was delivering sod for the road superintendent". [R: 9, para. 6]. Approximately two weeks after his participation in the incident, Mr. Edenfield returned to the sod company to obtain a copy of the invoice which he had signed when he took delivery of the sod. His admitted

motivation in doing so was to protect himself should the incident ever come to light. [R: 9, para. 6, 7]. Mr. Edenfield admitted his involvement in the incident only after he was questioned about it by a county commissioner approximately four months after the incident. [R: 9, para. 10]. During the four month period between the incident and his subsequent admission, Mr. Edenfield did not report either his, or anyone else's participation in the illegal activities or the fact that the incident had occurred to anyone. [R: 9, para. 12].

The petitioner submits that Mr. Edenfield's actions go beyond the scenario addressed in the legislative history above. By his own deposition admissions, Mr. Edenfield engaged in activity which he knew was wrong, he took active steps to conceal his activities, he did not report or discuss the incident with anyone for approximately four months and when he finally did confess to his involvement it was in response to a direct inquiry by someone who already knew of the incident. In contrast to the previously cited legislative history which addressed the issue of "whistle-blowing" when the "cat was just about out of the bag", Mr. Edenfield "blew the whistle", if at all, only when the cat was already out of the bag and scratching the furniture. Such conduct is not the type of activity which was intended to be protected under the Act and the Court of Appeal was in error in so holding.

As noted previously, this is a case of first impression

in Florida. However, courts in other jurisdictions have had occasion to interpret Whistleblower statutes. A particularly enlightening opinion is found in Wolcott v. Champion Intern. Corp., 691 F. Supp. 1052 (W.D. Mi. 1987)

In Wolcott, an employee threatened to report alleged wrongdoings by his employer to various agencies unless the employer changed its decision to scale down its operations. In granting the employer's Motion For Summary Judgment on the plaintiff's whistleblower claim, the court cited several factors which precluded coverage under the Michigan Whistle-blower's statute. Many of those same factors are present in the instant case. The Wolcott court noted that the plaintiff in the case had been involved in a portion of the illegal activity which the plaintiff later reported to the appropriate agencies. The Wolcott plaintiff was aware for quite some time of the problems he later reported to the authorities, yet "...failed to report it until it was in his best interest to do so" Wolcott, at 1064. In Wolcott, the plaintiff's attempt to shield himself through use of the Whistleblower's Act would put the plaintiff in a better position than he would have been in had he not reported the violations. Finally, the Wolcott court held that a plaintiff who seeks "whistleblower" protection must demonstrate that "...good faith or the interests of society as a whole" played a part in the plaintiff's decision to report the incident. Wolcott, at 1063.

Mr. Edenfield engaged in the illegal activity he now

claims to have "reported" to officials, as did the plaintiff in Wolcott. He was aware, as was the Wolcott plaintiff, of the improper activity for a considerable length of time yet did not "report" it until it was in his best interest to do so. Mr. Edenfield's attempt to shield himself through the Whistleblower's Act will put him in a better position than he would be without the Act. He cannot seriously contend that he could not have been disciplined by Martin County for his involvement in the illegal activity. However, by asserting a claim under F.S. § 112.3187, he seeks to be reinstated to his former position and recover all lost pay and benefits. Finally, there is no evidence that Mr. Edenfield acted in good faith or that he was motivated by a concern for the interests of society. Indeed, his own deposition testimony shows that the Plaintiff took active steps to conceal his involvement in the illegal activity and to "protect" himself should the incident ever come to light. See, also, Fiorillo v. U.S. Dept. of Justice, 795 F. 2d 1544, 1550 (Fed. Cir. 1986) (to be afforded protection under the federal whistleblower statute, "...the primary motivation of the employee must be the desire to inform the public on matters of public concern, and not personal vindictiveness [emphasis in original]).

As the <u>Wolcott</u> court noted, allowing whistleblower protection in circumstances similar to the instant case,

Lawould encourage other employees to hold off blowing the whistle until it becomes most advantageous for them to do so. Wolcott at 1066.

# B. <u>Statutory Construction</u>

It is a fundamental tenet of statutory construction that a statute will not be interpreted so as to yield an absurd result. Williams v. State, 492 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1986). The petitioner submits that the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case violates this fundamental principle in that it accords admitted wrongdoers a safe haven through the simple expedient of "blowing the whistle" on themselves and thereby insulating them from any disciplinary action by their employer.

The Williams case is particularly instructive in this regard. In the case, Williams was convicted of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. One of Williams' arguments to this honorable Court was that F.S. \$ 790.23 allows a convicted felon to possess a firearm which is an antique or a replica thereof. Williams asserted that he had presented testimony of a firearms expert that the gun was an antique or replica. In rejecting Williams' argument, the Court noted that, while Williams may have met the literal requirements of the statute, such an argument exalted form over substance and yielded an absurd result. See, also, Vildibill v. Johnson, 492 So.2d 1047 (Fla. 1986)

("Legislative intent must be given effect even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute.")

so too, in the instant case, the Court of Appeal's construction of the Act yields an absurd result. The

opinion holds that Mr. Edenfield was free to engage in improper conduct, take active steps to conceal his involvement and then, because he finally admitted his activities when confronted about it by an individual who already knew of the incident, he was free to invoke the Act to prevent his being disciplined for his improper activities. Further, the opinion as worded can arguably be invoked by all manner of governmental wrong-doers as an absolute bar to any proposed discipline for their misconduct. The Act was intended to reduce malfeasance in office, not encourage it. To allow a wrongdoer to hide behind the Act would encourage malfeasance and totally eviscerate the laudable goals of the Act.

Florida common law does not recognize a cause of action for retaliatory or wrongful discharge. Smith v. Piezo Technology & Prof. Adm'rs, 427 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1983).

Therefore, the Whistleblower's Act, which provides such a cause of action in limited situations, is a statute in derogation of common law. It has been repeatedly held that such statutes are to be strictly construed and will not be interpreted to displace the common law further than is clearly necessary. See 49 Fla. Jur. 2d, Statutes, § 192 and numerous decisions cited therein.

Contrary to the foregoing principle, the Court of Appeal has accorded the Act the broadest of constructions with respect to both the facts of Mr. Edenfield's situation and to future wrong-doers. The opinion in question makes

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