FILED SID J. WHITE JAN 7 1992 CLERK SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 78,768

MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA, etc.,

Petitioner,

-vs-

ية <mark>م</mark>

WILLIE EDENFIELD, SR.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

W. TRENT STEELE, ESQ. 250 Australian Ave. S., Ste. 1300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 and Philip M. Burlington, Esq. of EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A. Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District properly concluded that the Plaintiff was not precluded from asserting the protection of the "whistleblower" statute, Fla. Stat. §112.3187, as a matter of law, simply because he had participated in the underlying conduct at issue. The statute specifically defines its scope in subsection (7), and includes, inter alia, any employee who is requested to participate in an investigation or other inquiry conducted by an appropriate entity. The evidence presented demonstrates that the Plaintiff voluntarily cooperated in an investigation conducted by Commissioner Holt and, thus, he falls within the explicit terms of There is no provision in the statute excluding the statute. protection to any employee who has any involvement in the underlying conduct, and extending protection to such employees is not inconsistent with the legislative intent as expressed in subsection (2) of the statute.

The County's reliance on the legislative history is inappropriate because it has never claimed that the statute is ambiguous, nor that it contains any inconsistencies. This Court has held on numerous occasions that the language of a statute is the primary determinative of legislative intent, and that reliance on legislative history is inappropriate in the absence of ambiguity or inconsistency. Moreover, the legislative history relied upon by the County does not conflict with the Fourth District's decision, since it simply emphasizes the defense provided in subsection (10), i.e., that an employer can assert that the adverse personnel action

was predicated upon grounds other than the exercise of rights protected by the whistleblower statute. The Fourth District's decision did not abrogate or limit that defense. The court simply ruled on the issue before it, that is, whether because he had some participation in the underlying conduct, the Plaintiff could not assert protection of the statute. Since the Fourth District's decision is supported by the unambiguous language of the statute and is not inconsistent with its expressed intent, the decision should be affirmed.

QUESTION PRESENTED

THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE LANGUAGE OF FLA. STAT. §112,3187 INCLUDES WITHIN ITS SCOPE THOSE WHO PREVIOUSLY PARTICIPATED IN WRONGDOING IF THEY SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STATUTE.

ARGUMENT

The Fourth District properly reversed the summary judgment in favor of the Defendant County in this case and concluded that <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$112.3187 does not contain any exclusion for those "in <u>pari</u><u>delicto</u>," as argued by the County. The Fourth District properly relied on the unambiguous language of the statute, which describes the scope of conduct protected in subsection (7). The County has failed to cite any statutory language supporting its position, and has failed to even allege that there is any ambiguity in the statute that would justify reliance on legislative history. Moreover, the legislative history is not conclusive or even persuasive.

While arguing an issue of statutory construction, the County fails to quote or even refer to any language of the statute at issue. Instead, it relies on one memorandum (of uncertain origin), contained in the legislative history, which does not explicitly support its position, nor indicate that the result in this case is inconsistent with legislative intent. More importantly, the County has not alleged any ambiguity or inconsistency in the legislation which would justify reliance on legislative history.

The County criticizes the Fourth District for failing to address the portions of the legislative history presented by the County. However, in SHELBY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF SHELBY, OHIO v. SMITH, 556 So.2d **393** (Fla. 1990), this Court determined that the Fourth District had erred in relying on the legislative history where there was no showing of an ambiguity or inconsistency in the statute. In SHELBY MUTUAL, the legislative history explicitly supported the plaintiff's position and consisted of the legislative staff analyses of both the Senate and House of Representatives. This Court stated (556 So.2d at 395):

> From examples given within the text of these analyses, it is clear that the authors intended that the 1984 amendment would create the result urged by [the plaintiff] in this case.

Nonetheless, this Court ruled against the plaintiff, and relied solely on the language of the statute at issue. This Court stated (Ibid):

The plain meaning of statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction. ST, PETERSBURG BANK & TRUST CO. v. HAMM, 414 Only when a statute So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982). is of doubtful meaning should matters extrinsic to the statute be considered in construing the language employed by the legislature. FLORIDA STATE RACING COMM'N v. McLAUGHLIN, 102 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1958). Courts look to legislative history only to may resolve ambiguity in a statute. DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS v. SANFORD-ORLANDO KENNEL CLUB, **INC.**, **434** So.2d 879 (Fla. 1983).

This Court also quoted with approval from HEREDIA v. ALLSTATE INSURANCE CO., 358 So.2d 1353, 1354-55 (Fla. 1978):

In matters requiring statutory construction, courts always seek to effectuate

legislative intent. Where the words selected by the Legislature are clear and unambiguous, however, judicial interpretation is not appropriate to displace the expressed intent. FOLEY v. STATE EX REL. GORDON, 50 So.2d 179, 184 (Fla. 1951); PLATT v. LANIER, 127 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). It is neither the function nor prerogative of the courts to speculate on constructions more or less reasonable, when the language itself conveys an unequivocal meaning.

In the case <u>subjudice</u>, the Fourth District properly relied on the language of the statute to determine its scope. <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. \$112.3187(7) was quoted by the court and provides':

> Employees and persons protected. -- This section shall protect employees and persons who disclose information an their own initiative in a sworn complaint; who are requested to participate in an investigation, hearing, or other inquiry conducted by any agency or federal government entity; or who refuse to participate in any action prohibited by this section. [Emphasis supplied.]

That provision does not exclude a person who had some involvement in the underlying wrongdoing.

The County misconstrues the Fourth District's holding, as well as the language of the statute, in arguing that this construction "provides virtual absolute immunity to wrong-doers" (Petitioner's Brief p.7). Subsection (10) of the statute provides:

> It shall be a defense to any action brought pursuant to this section that the adverse action was predicated upon grounds other than the employee's or person's exercise of rights protected by this section.

³/It should be noted that the term "agency" for purposes of the statute is defined in <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §112.3187(3)(a) to include any government entity or official, officer, etc., and, thus, would include Commissioner Holt in this case.

Nothing in the Fourth District's decision eliminated or diminished That defense was not addressed in the opinion that defense. because it was not raised by the County in its Motion for Summary Judgment, nor was any evidence presented in support of it. The sole basis for the summary judgment asserted, and the grounds on which it was granted, was that the Plaintiff was automatically excluded from coverage of the Act because he was involved in the wrongdoing. The Fourth District's rejection of that argument does not create any immunity. The Plaintiff still has the burden of proving that he was the subject of adverse personnel action because of exercising his rights under: the statute, i.e., as a result of disclosing information or participating in the investigation. He is not granted any immunity by the Act or by the Fourth District's decision.

Under the facts of this case, the Fourth District properly determined that there was a genuine issue of fact regarding whether the Plaintiff was entitled to the statutory protection. The court noted the affidavit of Commissioner Holt, which stated that the Plaintiff was the only employee who suffered any adverse personnel action as a result of the incident at issue. Despite its selfrighteous indignation, the County fails to note that fact, nor provide any explanation why the Plaintiff's superior, who initiated the wrongful conduct, ensured that it was done, solely benefited from it, and had been engaged in other abuses as well, was not punished in any way. In fact, the only one of the four employees

involved who was punished was the Plaintiff, who **was** the only one who volunteered information regarding the incident.

The County presents its interpretation of the facts, and fails to note that this case was before the trial court on summary judgment and, thus, it had the burden of eliminating any genuine issues of fact in order to be entitled to judgment. The County fails to even mention the affidavit of Commissioner Holt, which stated that he had told Edenfield that he did not have to provide any information and that at the time he made the inquiry he did not know that the Plaintiff was involved. Edenfield immediately provided the information requested, arranged to meet with the commissioner and brought one of the other participants with him. Additionally, the Plaintiff disclosed other misconduct as well. Clearly, that evidence supports the conclusion that Edenfield was "requested to participate in an investigation...or other inquiry" as defined in <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. §112,3187(7)

The fact that the Plaintiff was the only employee involved who suffered any discipline and was the only employee who voluntarily disclosed information, clearly creates a seasonable inference that he was the abject of adverse personnel action because he made the disclosures. The existence of reasonable inferences supporting a party's case, of course, precludes summary judgment, MOORE v. MORRIS, 475 So.2d 667, 668 (Fla. 1985). There is also the direct evidence presented in the affidavit of Jones that the Plaintiff was demoted and transferred because he disclosed Raulerson's misconduct.

The Fourth District's legal conclusion and its application in this case does not violate the legislative intent. Subsection (2) of the statute states the legislative intent as follows:

> It is the intent of the Legislature to prevent agencies or independent contractors from taking retaliatory action against an employee who reports to an appropriate agency violations of law on the part of a public employer or independent contractor that create substantial and specific danger to the а public's health, safety, or welfare. It is further the intent of the Legislature to prevent agencies or independent contractors from taking retaliatory action against any person who discloses information to an appropriate agency alleging improper use of governmental office, gross waste of funds, or any other abuse or neglect of duty on the part of an agency, public officer, or employee.

The Plaintiff's conduct in this **case** obviously involved the reporting to an appropriate agency, i.e., official, the wrongful conduct involved and, thus, is consistent with the legislative intent.

Based on the authorities cited <u>supra</u>, there is no need to resort to legislative history, since the statute is unambiguous and its scope is specifically stated therein. However, even considering the legislative history, the conclusion asserted by the County is not meritorious. The County relies on one memorandum from a Kathryn Bradley to a Jack Overstreet. No evidence is presented as to who Kathryn Bradley or Jack Overstreet are. Moreover, the only section relied upon indicates a concern by the Attorney General regarding whether the bill would offer immunity to a wrongdoer **and** their response that "one could be fired or disciplined for participation in an act warranting whistleblowing" (R42-43). The statement from the meeting of the Florida House Committee on Government Operations is to the same effect (R58). There is no inconsistency between those statements and the Fourth District's decision.

Certainly one can be fired or disciplined for participating in wrongful conduct, as that defense is specifically provided in subsection (10) of the statute, quoted supra. However, that does not eliminate the factual issue regarding whether the adverse action was, in fact, predicated upon that participation. In view of the fact that Raulerson, who was obviously extremely more culpable than the Plaintiff, suffered no adverse personnel action must be considered as creating a factual issue regarding this matter. IN WOLCOTT V. CHAMPION INTERNATIONAL CORP., 691 F.Supp. 1052, 1058 (W.D. Mich. 1987), relied upon by the County, it is specifically noted that a plaintiff in a whistleblower case is entitled to show that the purported basis for the adverse personnel action is merely a pretext. The Plaintiff should be entitled to do so here. This record clearly does not support the conclusion that, as a matter of law, the Plaintiff was punished for the underlying conduct. As noted previously, the County never presented that affirmative defense in its Motion for Summary Judgment, but argued solely that because the Plaintiff was involved in the underlying conduct he was not within the scope of the statute. However, the County ignores the scope of the statute as provided in subsection (7) and it is clear that based on the affidavit of Commissioner Holt, the Plaintiff falls within the scope of the Act.

As noted above, there is nothing inconsistent with the Fourth District's construction of the statute and the legislature's intent. As a practical matter, eliminating all employees who had any involvement in the wrongdoing at issue would unnecessarily preclude an important source of information of such conduct. The facts of this case illustrate the practical aspects of this consideration. The Plaintiff engaged in the conduct based on the direct orders of his superior (Raulerson), and obviously out of fear for his job and the threats and intimidation by Raulerson (as noted in Jones' affidavit). Edenfield did not initiate the conduct, nor benefit from it. However, immediately upon being requested by Commissioner Holt, he provided all the relevant information regarding the incident and assisted in the investigation (and apparently was the only participant to do so). Obviously, as a practical matter, a person who was involved is the best source of information. While the Plaintiff's participation in Raulerson's scheme was clearly not exemplary, the County's selfrighteous posturing must be considered in light of the fact that it never punished Raulerson.

Moreover, if the legislature intended to eliminate participants from the protection of the statute, it could easily have inserted a provision to that effect in the statute. It did not do so. The scope of the statute, as drafted, does not create any immunity for a wrongdoer. The employee still has to prove that there was a causal connection between his "whistleblowing" and the

adverse personnel action and the employer is entitled to show that there were other valid reasons for the punishment.

The cases relied upon by the County do not support its position. In WOLCOTT v. CHAMPION INTERNATIONAL CORP., <u>supra</u>, the plaintiff brought an action under the Michigan Whistleblowers Protection Act. In that case, the plaintiff was a maintenance mechanic for the defendant corporation, and in the years prior to his discharge there was a reduction in the defendant's ownership of heavy equipment requiring mechanical attention. This was reflected in documentation and meetings held by the defendant which informed the employees of the possibility of cutbacks and reductions in operations.

In response to the possible reduction of employees, the plaintiff mailed what the trial court stated "can only be described as a 'threatening' letter to Champion," (691F.Supp. at 1054). The letter basically stated that the plaintiff was going to report certain regulation violations of the corporation to various governmental agencies, unless grievances were addressed and job positions retained.

Upon receipt of the letter, Champion suspended the plaintiff for one week and a letter documenting the disciplinary action was placed in his file. Thereafter, consistent with the prior conduct and declarations, an official of the company recommended that the plaintiff's mechanical position be eliminated as a result of the cutbacks in the company's ownership of heavy equipment. The plaintiff then filed his complaints with various governmental

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